FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
4/25/2025 10:51 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/25/2025
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No. 39973-7-III

Case #: 1040989

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III,
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF EMIL ROBERT ZLATICH, JR., by and through
its personal representative, Danielle Zlatich, individually, and
on behalf of EMIL ROBERT ZLATICH III, CHARLES
BRADEN ZLATICH, BRIAN EUGENE ZLATICH, BRENT
ALLEN ZLATICH, and EMIL ROBERT ZLATICH IV,
Petitioners,

v.

ESTATE OF VICKIE KAUFMAN, through its personal
representative, HEIDI ZANOTELLI; and ESTATE OF
DANIEL KAUFMAN, through its personal representative,
HEIDI ZANOTELLI,
Respondents.

A. INTRODUCTION

Washington’s common law has long imposed a duty on parents to prevent their children from harming other people. But until this case, no Washington appellate court had decided whether such a duty can arise during an offspring’s adulthood. Division III decided that no such duty arose under Washington’s “take charge” duty doctrine, and that public policy forecloses a parent from assuming tort liability for the acts of a mentally ill adult child. This decision is deeply at odds with this Court’s precedents.

The parents in this case knew about their son’s psychotic behavior and his threats to harm his neighbors, whom he delusionally believed to be poisoning him. But the parents continued their financial support, and elected not to exercise their ability to control his whereabouts and mental health treatment. Their actions enabled their son to continue to refuse badly needed treatment—and to maintain a stockpile of firearms and tactical gear at the property that his parents funded. Their son’s killing

of one of those neighbors was foreseeable. None of that swayed Division III.

Division III's erroneous decision also creates a *de facto* new code pleading standard for complaints alleging negligence. Over a dissent, the majority refused to consider *Restatement (Second) of Torts* bases for negligence not specifically pleaded in the complaint. Nothing in our civil appellate rule requires allegations of legal conclusions, let alone a specific identification of *Restatement* bases for negligence. In conflict with this Court's notice pleading precedents, this new pleading rule will spur longer complaints, will result in premature dismissals of cases before their merits can be determined, and may invite more litigation as defendants see this decision as an invitation to file early motions to dismiss.

These broadly important issues—a substantive question about parents' common law duties, and a procedural question about the pleading standard for negligence—warrant this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b).

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The petitioners are Danielle Zlatich, personal representative of the Estate of Emili Zlatich, Jr., Emile Zlatich III, Charles Zlatich, Brian Zlatich, Brent Zlatich, and Emil Zlatich IV (“the Estate”).

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III issued its decision terminating review on January 14, 2025. The Estate timely moved for reconsideration or alternatively to publish the opinion. Division III denied the motion on March 28, 2025. The decision and the order are in the Appendix.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does Washington recognize that parents have a duty to use reasonable care, including the giving of warnings, to protect third persons from harm by an adult mentally ill child the parents know is foreseeably dangerous as to those persons and the parents provided material support enabling that child to carry out an attack?

2. Do Washington’s civil or appellate rules require a plaintiff who alleges negligence to specially plead every *Restatement* section or other legal basis supporting a common law duty of care in negligence?

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As Division III acknowledged, this case's facts "are nothing short of horrendous." Op. at 2.¹

Emil Zlatich, Jr., a widower and the long-time owner and operator of a popular Zip's restaurant in Kennewick, lived with his son, Emil III, and his grandson, Emil IV ("Bo"). CP 3-4. Daniel and Vickie Kaufman's son, Ryan, resided in the neighboring home. CP 41, 61, 104, 132. A shared driveway linked the two houses. CP 132.

Ryan's parents knew for a decade that he suffered from

¹ Because this case comes on review of a CR 12(b)(6) dismissal order, the facts derive from the original and amended complaints; discovery has not yet occurred. This Court "presume[s] that the plaintiff's factual allegations are true and draw[s] all reasonable inferences from the factual allegations in the plaintiff's favor." *Trujillo v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 183 Wn.2d 820, 830, 355 P.3d 1100 (2015) (citation omitted). This petition also cites declarations submitted with the Estate's motions to amend the complaint and for reconsideration. While not a summary judgment motion, this Court also "may consider hypothetical facts supporting the plaintiff's claims." *Kinney v. Cook*, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 (2007) (citation omitted). The facts stated in the declarations are such "hypothetical facts."

grave mental illness. Ryan was involuntarily hospitalized in 2012, and he was treated successfully with anti-psychotic drugs. CP 39-40. But he eventually ceased treatment. CP 39-40, 54.

Ryan's parents knew he exhibited psychotic and violent behavior once he stopped taking medication. CP 105. Ryan believed the Zlatiches were entering his home at night and poisoning his food, leading Ryan to booby trap his front door with a shotgun. Ryan also believed he had a twin sister whom his parents had "sold to the government to support their lavish lifestyle." CP 41, 44, 53-54, 105. Ryan displayed violent outbursts, and sheriff deputies visited Ryan's home several times for "welfare checks." CP 40, 59, 61. In the final months of his life, Ryan started to look "crazed." CP 65.

All the while, Ryan's parents knew he possessed firearms and kept ammunition loading equipment in his basement. CP 41, 106, 133. They even had keys to Ryan's indoor firing range on his property—a facility they kept secret from the Zlatiches. CP 106, 133.

Ryan's parents supervised him and gave him money. CP 52, 105. They consulted with an attorney about his involuntary commitment or a guardianship. CP 105, 108, 117. They located a new private psychiatrist to get Ryan back on medication. CP 39, 105. Ryan regularly reported to his mother Vickie about his psychotic delusions. *Id.* They took Ryan from his house for overnight stays more than once, and Ryan's brother often could not reach his parents because they were so busy helping Ryan. CP 104-105. They paid for his mortgage, CP 38, 52, 105, 144, and that financial support likely enabled him to keep his firing range and to grow his cache of shotguns and handguns.

Ryan's parents did nothing to control Ryan's behavior or to warn the Zlatiches of the danger, passing on many chances to do so. Despite visiting Ryan on a weekly basis during the last 3-6 months of his life, neither parent warned the Zlatiches that they might be a target of their son's psychotic wrath. CP 65, 106. The Zlatiches had no clue; they did not even recognize Ryan during his home invasion. CP 61, 106.

In the darkness of one early morning, in a psychotic stupor, Ryan set fire to his own home, outbuildings, and equipment. CP 107. Then, in full tactical gear, with a “SWAT-like” helmet covering his face, Ryan broke into the Zlatiches’ home. CP 61. He used a 12-gauge shotgun with a laser sight to shoot and kill Emil Jr.; he shot Emil III in the back; and he wounded Bo. CP 62, 107. He doused the house’s walls with gasoline and set it ablaze. *Id.*

Ryan then went to his parents’ home and killed them. He later died in a fire fight with police in West Richland. CP 107.

The Estate sued the Kaufmans’ estate for wrongful death. CP 1-8. Separately, the two Zlatich survivors sued the Kaufmans’ estate for personal injuries.² Before discovery began, the Kaufmans’ estate sought dismissal under CR 12(b)(6). CP 9-20. The Estate moved to amend the complaint, adding more detail, and provided declarations that the trial court refused to

² Those actions remain pending.

consider. CP 21-67. Although it granted the motion to amend, CP 75-76, the court also entered a dismissal order the same day. CP 78-79, 123-24.

In a partially divided opinion, Division III affirmed. Op. at 1-12. The majority and dissent agreed that the Kaufmans owed no duty of care to the Estate under the “take charge” doctrine of *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 315, 319 discussed in *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 822 P.2d 243 (1992). Both also invoked public policy to justify that holding. The majority and dissent parted ways, however, on the other duty-related arguments under various tenets of the *Restatement* advanced by the Zlatiches. Op. at 10-12. The majority refused to consider those other *Restatement* sections because the Estate’s complaints did not plead them, mentioning only §§ 315, 319 and *Taggart*. CP 1-8, 116-17.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- (1) Division III's Decision on a Matter of First Impression Clashes with Bedrock Common Law Principles and Raises an Important Question About Parents' Legal Responsibility for Dangerous Adult Children

The dissent framed the duty question in this case as whether “parents of an adult child living separately” may “be liable for their child’s criminal acts.” Dissent at 3. The majority’s decision on this issue conflicts with this Court’s precedents and raises an important question about common law liability. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

Parents must use reasonable care to prevent their minor children from intentionally harming others when the parents know or should know of their children’s dangerous proclivities. *Norton v. Payne*, 154 Wash. 241, 245, 281 P. 991 (1929); *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 316. But until Division III’s decision, no Washington appellate court had decided whether circumstances could bring about such a duty when the child had reached adulthood.

Division III erroneously focused on the parent-child relationship when, in fact, the issue for a “take charge” duty is one of control, without regard for whether the Kaufmans were Ryan’s parents.³ The Kaufmans exercised sufficient control over Ryan for a “take charge” duty to be present. In its discussion of that duty, Division III largely focused on the criminal justice system or therapist-patient controls. Op. at 6-8. But a “take charge” duty does not require custodial control. Indeed, in *Volk v. Demeerleer*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016), this Court specified that a therapist may have a duty arising out of a treatment in an out-patient setting where physical control is not present.

Rather than physical or custodial control, this Court’s precedents establish that a supervisory role over another constitutes the requisite control for a “take charge” duty. For

³ *Coffman v. McFadden*, 68 Wn.2d 954, 958, 416 P.2d 99 (1966) made clear that the parent-child relationship alone is not enough to establish parental liability for a child’s acts.

example, in *C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999), this Court held a church had a take charge duty as to a church deacon that abused children. The church did not have “custody” over the deacon, but rather only had supervisory responsibility over him. This is consistent with this Court’s rejection of physical custody as the basis for a special relationship in *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 429 P.3d 484 (2018), where the Court concluded that supervision by, or “entrustment” to, another was central to the necessary relationship. *Id.* at 173.

The Kaufmans had the requisite supervisory relationship with Ryan, without regard to their status as his parents, given their extensive supervisory role as to his health care, his finances, and his firearms, to name just a few aspects of their supervision. *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 319 makes clear that the “take charge” duty occurs as to supervision of another, as here the duty arises as to “[o]ne who takes charge of a third person ‘whom he

knows, or should know to be likely to cause bodily harm to others if not controlled.” *See also*, cmt. a to § 319.⁴

Both the majority and dissent faulted the Zlatiches for not citing a precedent for recognizing a parent having a duty to use reasonable care to warn third persons or otherwise to protect them from danger from their adult child. *See, e.g.*, Op. at 9; Dissent at 3. But, as discussed *infra*, the existence of a duty never turns solely on precedent. *See, e.g., Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 779, 698 P.2d 77 (1985) (“[W]hether a particular class of defendants owes a duty to a particular class of plaintiffs is a question of law and depends on mixed considerations of ‘logic, common sense, justice, policy, *and precedent*.’” (emphasis

⁴ Because the Kaufmans *knew* the unsuspecting Zlatiches were the targets of Ryan’s delusional wrath, a special protective duty of care was owed by them to the Zlatiches under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 320. *See Drammeh v. Uber Technologies, Inc.*, 2024 WL 4003548 (9th Cir. 2024) (a special relationship existed between Uber and its drivers); *Barlow v. State*, 2 Wn.3d 583, 540 P.3d 783 (2024) (a special relationship existed between higher education institutions and their students); *McKown v. Simon Property Group, Inc.*, 182 Wn.2d 752, 344 P.3d 661 (2015) (special relationship between mall and invitees).

added). When a duty question is an issue of first impression, the analysis thus considers precedent, but that does not end the requisite analysis. *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 168-81.⁵

This Court has frequently found a duty to exist as a matter of first impression. *See, e.g., H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 168-181 (relying on general principles and policy considerations, rather than a specific precedent controlling the same circumstances, to hold for the first time that the State owes a protective duty to children in foster care); *Washburn v. City of Fed. Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 757-59, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013) (relying on general negligence principles to hold for the first time that a police officer serving a protective order has a duty to use reasonable care to the intended protectee of the order). In short, while an absence of precedent in a matter of first impression might justify

⁵ Were it otherwise, the common law of torts would have never emerged, and no duties of care would have ever been recognized. After all, for each occasion that an appellate court has held a duty of care exists, at some point the matter was one of first impression with no prior precedent establishing a duty of care in like circumstances.

a court treading carefully, a common law court goes too far if refuses to weigh the general principles and other considerations that support the common law analysis of whether a duty exists.

In sum, Division III's analysis of a "take charge" duty here is contrary to this Court's precedents. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Division III majority declined to reach the Estate's other arguments showing that the Kaufmans owed a duty of reasonable care. Op. at 10-12. Had the majority reached those arguments, as it should have, the majority would have erred in holding no duty existed.

Everyone owes a duty of reasonable care to not create or increase the risk that their conduct will expose other people to unreasonable risks of harm. *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 550, 442 P.3d 608 (2019); *Washburn*, 178 Wn.2d at 757. This duty of reasonable care may encompass the risk to a plaintiff of harm by a third party. *Washburn*, 178 Wn.2d at 757; *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 302B; *Parrilla v. King County*, 138 Wn. App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007).

The Kaufmans' own affirmative conduct created or increased the risk to the Zlatiches that Ryan would harm them. Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the Estate, the Kaufmans enabled Ryan to retain access to—and likely to grow—his arms cache, his firing range, and his other materiel, and to stay in his house. They knew the danger he posed to himself and to others including the Zlatiches in specific, and yet they provided the financial support that allowed him to stay on that property. Their enablement also meant that Ryan was far less likely to return to medicated treatment or to submit to hospitalization. As a result, Ryan's danger to the Zlatiches persisted, worsened, and then became a nightmarish reality. The Kaufmans also failed to warn the Zlatiches or do anything else—simple steps that would have enabled the Zlatiches to protect themselves, whether that would be by guard dogs, locks and warning devices, or firearms.

If Ryan received the firearms—or the money to pay for them—from the Kaufmans, then *Restatement (Second) of Torts*

§ 390 further supports a duty of care. Under § 390, adopted by this Court in *Bernethy v. Walt Faylor's, Inc.*, 97 Wn.2d 929, 933-34, 653 P.2d 280 (1982), a defendant owes a duty to protect others when he directly or indirectly supplies a “chattel,” including a firearm, to an intoxicated or mentally incompetent person. Negligently entrusting dangerous instrumentalities to persons incompetent by youth or other circumstances has long been actionable in Washington. *Smith v. Nealey*, 162 Wash. 160, 298 P. 345 (1931) (parents entrusted car with shotgun in it to 13-year-old son).

The existence of a tort duty in these circumstances raises broadly important questions about parents' tort liability. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The majority suggested that a duty of care here “would discourage parents, who are likely most motivated and best situated to assist a child floundering with mental health issues, from having any type of relationship with their struggling children.” Op. at 9. The dissent seemed to agree, with the narrow exception of a duty if the Kaufmans directly supplied firearms to

Ryan. Dissent at 4. The opinions thus cast serious doubts ever whether a duty can *ever* arise when parents know about a severely mentally ill adult child's dangerousness and have material involvement in their lives. Such a *de facto* parental immunity raises important questions of policy that only this Court, as the ultimate arbiter of Washington common law, should decide.

(2) The Decision Is Deeply at Odds with Washington's Notice Pleading Rule and with the State's Common Law Duty Analysis, and It Threatens to Worsen the Costs of Litigation

This Court should review the Division III majority's refusal to consider whether legal authorities other than *Restatement* § 319 and *Taggart* established a duty of care here. When the majority declined to consider the Estate's additional authorities, the majority did not suggest the additional *Restatement* provisions argued on appeal by the Zlatiches were inapplicable. Rather, it believed only that they were not properly before it because the trial court did not have "the ability to apply

the proffered law and the opportunity to correct any error.” Op. at 10. That view conflicts with this Court’s precedents on notice pleading. As the dissent realized, “our Supreme Court has determined that the policy against dismissing lawsuits at their inception is stronger than the policy favoring issue preservation, as embodied in RAP 2.5(a).” Dissent at 2. Review is warranted to resolve this apparent conflict between the majority opinion and this Court’s precedents, and to clarify whether plaintiffs claiming negligence must specially plead every legal basis for a duty of care. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

(a) Division III’s *De Facto* Special Pleading Rule Collides with Washington’s Notice Pleading Standard and the Related Policy Against Early Dismissals Before a Claim’s Merits Can Be Tested

The civil rules require only “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” CR 8(a). This notice pleading standard is “one of the primary components of our justice system.” *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr.*, P.S., 166 Wn.2d 974, 983, 216 P.3d 374 (2009). A complaint

needs only to put the defendant on notice of the plaintiff's "possible" entitlement to relief. *McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank, FSB*, 169 Wn.2d 96, 101, 233 P.3d 861 (2010). Thus, the rules do not "require parties to state all of the facts supporting their claims in their initial complaint." *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 222, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992).

If plaintiffs need not give notice of every fact that might support their claims, it follows that their complaints do not have to plead all legal bases for defendants' liability for negligence. Washington's notice pleading rule cannot be lenient for factual allegations but strict for the legal bases sustaining a claim of negligence. Division III demanded that a complaint for negligence plead every legal basis for concluding that the defendant owed a duty of care to a plaintiff. Op. at 10-12. This abrogation of Washington's notice pleading rule calls for review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

As part of Washington's notice pleading doctrine, this Court has cautioned that "CR 12(b)(6) motions should be granted

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