FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/23/2025 2:03 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 1040989

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ESTATE OF EMIL ROBERT ZLATICH, JR., by and through its personal representative, Daniel Zlatich, individually, and on behalf of EMIL ROBERT ZLATICH III, CHARLES BRADEN ZLATICH, BRIAN EUGENE ZLATICH, BRENT ALLEN ZLATICH, and EMIL ROBERT ZLATICH IV,

PETITIONERS,

v.

ESTATE OF VICKIE KAUFMAN, through its personal representative, HEIDI ZANOTELLI; and ESTATE OF DANIEL KAUFMAN, through its personal representative, HEIDI ZANOTELLI,

RESPONDENTS.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Both exceptions were discussed, but Petitioners' emphasis has been on imposing liability under §315(a), and the corresponding §319 "take charge" duty. Petitioners seek to establish a duty-imposing special relationship between the Kaufmans and Ryan (the perpetrator).

1. The Kaufmans did not have a special relationship with Ryan under § 315(a).

After considering all the presented hypothetical facts, Division III properly focused upon the Kaufmans' lack of "right, ability and authority to control Ryan." (Opinion at 8.)

Petitioners first argue that Division III placed undue influence on cases discussing duty arising from "criminal justice system or therapist-patient controls." Petitioners claim this emphasis was inappropriate because "a take charge duty does not require custodial control." Petition at 10, *citing Volk v. Demeerleer*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 286 P.3d 254 (2016). But, Division III specifically acknowledged this legal principal in the Majority Opinion. (Opinion at 7 ("A custodial relationship is not required for the duty to attach," *citing Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 222-23, 822 P.2d 243 (1992)).)

Moreover, Petitioners' attempt to apply *Volk* to minimize the reality of the Kaufmans' limited control over Ryan to impose a special relationship-based duty on the Kaufmans belies the carefully explained rationale of the *Volk* Court's decision.

Notably, the special relationship-based duty arising from the psychiatrists-outpatient relationship imposed by Volk was not founded upon Restatement §319. Indeed, the Court expressly rejected that the level of control required to impose a §319 duty must be present to establish a special relationship-based duty for a psychiatrist under §315. 187 Wn.2d at 261-62. The Volk Court's analysis of §319, nonetheless confirmed that Division III correctly concluded that the high degree of control presented in officer/parolee),⁷ Taggart (parole Hertog (probation officer/probationer),⁸ and Joyce (community correction officers/offenders),⁹ is indeed necessary to establish a "take charge" duty under §319. Id. at 259-262.

⁷ Taggart, supra, 118 Wn.2d 195.

⁸ Hertog, et rel. S.A.H v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 279 P.2d 400 (1999).

⁹ Joyce v. Dep't Corr., 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.2d 825 (2005).

Though less than the level of control necessary to impose a §319 duty, *Volk* held that, "for a special relationship to exist under §315 and impose a corresponding duty, there must be some ability to 'control' the third person's conduct, or else the duty contemplated ... would be essentially one of strictly liability." 187 Wn.2d at 264 (citations omitted). Thus, the ability to control the third-party actor remained a prerequisite to imposing a duty. In *Volk*, this Court determined that psychiatrists had sufficient control to impose a duty because "there are a number of preventive measures mental health professional can undertake in the outpatient setting, even without custodial control." *Id.* at 265.

Ultimately, *Volk* holds that, "after a special relationship is formed between a mental health professional and his or her outpatient satisfying *Restatement* §315, *the mental health professional* is under a duty of reasonable care <u>to act consistent</u> <u>with the standards of the mental health profession</u>, in order to protect foreseeable victims of his or her patient." 187 Wn.2d at 262 (emphasis added). This Court explained that *Restatement* §315 imposes an alternate duty to that imposed by medical malpractice. "The foreseeability of the victim, as well as what actions are required to fulfill this duty, *is informed by the standards of the medical health profession*." *Id.* at 255 (emphasis added). The relationship and the corresponding duty is fundamentally founded upon the special knowledge and expertise that a psychiatrist possesses, which expertise uniquely allows her to makes informed assessments. *Id.* at 267.

Parents, or lay people generally, do not have the special expertise and knowledge or the unique ability to control that was fundamental to the *Volk* Court's reasoning and holdings. To the contrary, parents not only lack the special training and expertise, they are also arguably lacking in objectivity to make informed assessments that a mental health professional can make. There is no analysis in *Volk* that supports extension of its holdings to parents of mentally disabled, adult children, or to conclude that the Kaufmans' had a §315 special relationship with Ryan irrespective of their status as parents.

2. The Kaufmans did not have a special relationship with Mr. Zlatich under § 315(b).

Petitioners next argue: "Rather than physical or custodial control, this Court's precedents establish that a supervisory role over another constitutes the requisite control for a 'take charge' duty." (Petition at 10.) Yet, the "supervisory role" cases Petitioners cite are all protective special relationship cases akin to application of the protective special relationship described in §315(b) – which would require a special relationship between the Kaufmans and Mr. Zlatich. The cited cases do not apply here to impose on the Kaufmans a duty to control Ryan.

Petitioners first cite *C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Catholic Bishop* of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999). *C.J.C.* held that a church owed a §315(b) protective duty to children of the church congregation. There, a church deacon molested young members of the church he babysat off church premises. The *C.J.C.* Court held that a church's duties to its youth are the same as a school's if the molestation occurs during church activities, when the children are in the custody and care of the church. 138 Wn.2d at 721-22. The *C.J.C.* Court ultimately held that the protective special relationship-based duty there did not require the children to be in the church's physical custody while the abuse occurred:

Where a protective special relationship exists, a principal is not free to ignore the risk posed by its agents, place such agents into association with vulnerable persons it would otherwise be required to protect, and then escape liability simply because the harm was accomplished off premises or after-hours.

138 Wn.2d at 724.

H.B.H., supra, likewise applied §315(b) to hold that the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") had a protective relationship with foster children in its charge, which imposed a duty for DSHS to protect foster children from foreseeable harm. 192 Wn.2d at 168-178. There is no such protective relationship between the Kaufmans and Mr. Zlatich.

Petitioners seem to argue that the Kaufmans had a special relationship with Mr. Zlatich simply because they were aware of Ryan's paranoid belief that he was threatened by Mr. Zlatich. But if Petitioners' argument is accepted, any person in any circumstance who had knowledge of a third person's potential propensity to act dangerously would have a duty to affirmatively intervene or face liability. No analysis in *C.J.C.* or *H.B.H* supports applying §315 to impose on the Kaufmans a protective special relationship with their adult son's neighbors. Division III's decision is consistent with *C.J.C.* and *H.B.H*.

Finally, Petitioners imply that Division III's decision relied too heavily on Petitioners' failure to cite any precedent "recognizing a parent having a duty to use reasonable care to warn third persons or otherwise protect them from danger from their adult child." (Petition at 12.) Petitioners infer that, in the absence of direct precedent, Division III failed to give appropriate consideration to "logic, common sense, [and] policy" to address the question of duty. (*Id.* at 12.) Notably, Division III's comment addressed Petitioners' bold assertion in their briefing, made without citation to any authority, that the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §316 duty for parents to exercise reasonable care to control <u>minor</u> children "applies with equal vigor to the parents of adult children with mental disabilities. (Opinion at 9.) Division III's comment, in context, was appropriate.

More importantly, Division III did not dogmatically demand precedent in the absence of other analysis and reason. Division III did, in fact, give appropriate consideration to and weigh policy. After carefully analyzing and applying relevant common law principles, the Majority stated:

> Further, as articulated in the dissenting opinion, there are policy reasons that dissuade us from imposing a "take charge" duty on parents who have adult children with mental health infirmities. Imposing such a duty would discourage parents, who are likely most motivated and best situated to assist a child

floundering with mental health issues, from having any type of relationship.

(Opinion at 9. See also, Dissent at 3-4.)

Division III did not "refuse to weigh the general principals and other considerations" when it concluded that the Kaufmans did not have a duty in this case. The decision was well-reasoned and consistent with common law principles; and review is unwarranted.

B. Division III Appropriately Exercised Its Discretion To Decline Consideration Of New Theories Of Liability Not Raised To The Trial Court.

RAP 2.5(a) provides that an appellate court "may refuse to consider any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." This rule is generally applied to preclude a party from raising new issues on appeal. *Smith v. Shannon,* 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983). As the Majority noted, "the purpose of this rule is to afford the trial court the ability to apply the proffered law and the opportunity to correct error. (Opinion at 10, *citing Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett,*

146 Wn. 2d 29, 37, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002).) "[T]he application of RAP 2.5(a) is ultimately in the reviewing court's discretion." *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 918, 784 P.3d 1258 (1990).

Invoking this rule, the Majority declined to consider multiple new theories of liability under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §281 (regarding liability for the invasion of interests of others), §302B (regarding certain acts or omissions), §328E and §343 (regarding liability of a possessor of land), and §390 (regarding liability of one who supplies chattel), all of which were raised for the first time on appeal. (Opinion at 10.) The Majority reasoned:

The Estate of Zlatich asserts completely new legal theories not raised below. As such, the trial court was never given the opportunity to apply the law nor to correct and potential error.

(*Id.* at 11-12.)¹⁰

¹⁰ The Chief Judge dissented, but only with regard to one of Petitioners' new arguments based on *Restatement* §390 Petitioners do not dispute that the trial court pleadings failed to raise their newly proffered legal theories. Instead, Petitioners argue that the Majority's exercise of discretion contravenes CR 8, which only requires pleadings to be sufficient to give notice to the court and the opponent of the general nature of the claim asserted. *Dewey v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10*, 95 Wn. App. 18, 23-24, 974 P.2d 847 (1999). Petitioners seem to argue that, on an appeal of a CR 12(b)(6) motion, the trial court pleadings

(presented at pages 44-46 of Appellants' Brief below). (Dissent at 4.) To the trial court, Petitioners alleged that the Kaufmans knew Ryan had firearms because Ryan hunted with his Dad. (CP 41.) On appeal, Petitioners hypothesized for the first time that the Kaufmans <u>supplied</u> Ryan with firearms or provided him money to purchase firearms. Petitioners then argued: "If Ryan received the firearms from the Kaufmans, they then had a duty to Emil Jr. under *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §390" as the supplier of chattel. (Appellants' Brief at p. 44.) The dissenting Judge said he would "remand for the narrow purpose of permitting discovery into this new theory..." (*Id* 4.) effectively become irrelevant, and an appellant should be free to raise any new argument without constraint by RAP 2.5.

But, while inexpert pleading is permitted and may be forgiven under CR 8, *insufficient pleading is not*. *Dewey*, 95 Wn. App at 23-24. "A pleading is insufficient when it does not give the opposing party fair notice of what the claim is and the ground upon which it rests." *Northwest Line Constructors Chapter of Nat'l Electric Contractors v. Snohomish County Public Utility Dist.*, 104 Wn. App. 842, 848-49, 17 P.3d 1251 (2001) (citation omitted).

Notably, the Majority exercised its discretion in the following context:

- Petitioners only alleged a single theory of liability in its Complaint – "Negligent Supervision" founded on *Restatements* §§ 315 and 319.
- Faced with the CR 12(b)(6) motion (asserting that establishing duty for a Negligent Supervision claim may not be legally viable under the alleged facts),

Petitioners requested and were granted authority to amend their Complaint. Yet, Petitioners failed to utilize that opportunity to raise the new legal theories they raised on appeal. Petitioners likewise failed to present any of their new theories of liability in their briefing to the trial court.

 Both the trial court and Division III considered the multiple declarations filed by Petitioners, but those declarations likewise failed to allege facts to provide notice of the new theories of liability.

Even when afforded opportunity to amend, Petitioners failed to raise their new legal theories in their pleadings and provide Respondents and the trial court the requisite fair notice. Petitioners' pleadings were legally insufficient and the Majority was well within its discretion to decline consideration of the newly raised legal issues.

Turner v. Wash. State Dept. of Social & Health Services, 198 Wn.2d 273, 493 P.3d 117 (2021), is inapposite. There, the Court addressed, among other issues the scope of the public duty doctrine and its exceptions. The Court held it was appropriate to exercise its discretion to consider previously uncited *Restatements* regarding exceptions to the public duty doctrine, since exceptions to the public duty doctrine were generally raised below and the record was developed to address the issue – the trial court effectively had notice of the theories. Such is not the case here.

Petitioners argue that because they assert negligence, they are free to raise any authority, whether presented below or not, that pertains to the question of duty, irrespective if the authority relates to the facts alleged. But their position is unreasonable, as the question of duty is too broad to relieve a litigant of their CR 8 obligation to at least provide notice of the primary legal theories presented. Notably, the many *Restatements (Second) of Torts* are organized in "Chapters," and then further divided into "Topics." Chapter 12 of these *Restatements* sets forth general principles of negligence. Among the many Topics in Chapter 12, "Topic 7" sets forth *Restatements* regarding "Duties of Affirmative Action." *Restatements (Second) of Torts* §315 and §319 are within Topic 7, as are §§ 315-320, which also address the "duty to control others." Further evidencing that the newly raised *Restatement* sections are insufficiently related to those pled below to provide notice, none of the newly cited *Restatements* and associated legal theories are within Topic 7; some are not even in Chapter 12. For example, §390 is set forth in Chapter 14 – "Liability of Persons Supplying Chattel – Rules Applied to Suppliers."

Finally, Petitioners assert that Division III's discretionary exercise of RAP 2.5 to decline consideration of multiple new theories of liability creates "a *de facto* new code pleading standard for complaints alleging negligence" that will have "broad consequence for civil litigants and the court system." (Petition at 2, 27.) But unpublished opinions have no precedential value and are not binding on <u>any</u> court, and, in the absence of other precedent, are not even to be cited to our courts of appeal. GR 13. The unpublished decision cannot and does not alter Washington's rules regarding notice pleading. And regardless, application of RAP 2.5 is at the discretion of the appellate courts and remains so under the Majority's decision. The Majority's decision in no way limits any Washington appellate court's future discretion to apply the rule.

Regardless, Division III properly exercised its RAP 2.5 discretion and review is unwarranted.

CONCLUSION

Respondents respectfully request this Court to deny review.

I certify that this memorandum contains 4,998 words, in

compliance with RAP 18.17(b)